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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

  

I. Was the forensic search of Defendant Mendoza’s phone a constitutional search? 

II. Must the Court follow the categorical approach, rendering § 924(c)(3)(B) 

unconstitutionally vague? 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 

Mendoza was flagged for suspicious behavior entering Cape Adams International 

Airport. A Border Patrol agent conducted an interview of Defendant Mendoza and requested a 

forensic search of Mendoza’s phone as a result. Mendoza has moved to suppress evidence 

obtained as a result of the forensic search, claiming that it was an illegal search. However, it was 

a routine border search that required no showing of suspicion. Even if it was a nonroutine border 

search, the agents had an individualized reasonable suspicion of illegal activity which made the 

forensic search reasonable. A reasonable search cannot be excluded.  

Mendoza violated 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(B)(ii), which prohibits a person from using or 

carrying a firearm during or in relation to a crime of violence. For this indictment, a “crime of 

violence” means “an offense that is a felony and . . . that by its nature, involves a substantial risk 

that physical force against the person or property of another may be used in the course of 

committing the offense.” 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(3)(B). Courts refer to this definitional subsection as 

the “residual clause.” Mendoza claims that the government cannot use this residual clause 

definition. He believes Dimaya made the residual clause unconstitutionally vague. However, 

Mendoza misreads Dimaya because Dimaya expressly refused to answer the question of whether 

courts should apply the categorical approach or the conduct-based approach. This motion turns 

on whether the categorical approach or the conduct-based approach applies to 18 U.S.C. § 

924(c)(3)(B). The Court should use the conduct-based approach. 



Govt.’s Mem. of Law in Opposition to Def.’s Motion to  

Suppress and Motion to Dismiss Count Two      Page 2 of 15 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 

On February 6, 2018, Jason Mendoza was flagged as a suspected traveler on the JANET 

program. Michaels Aff. ¶ 13. JANET identifies potential threats to national security based on 

individuals’ travel history, behavior, and other criteria. Michaels Aff. ¶ 9. The program takes 

measures to prevent human-like bias by removing traditional demographic metrics like age, 

gender, race, and ethnicity. Michaels Aff. ¶ 10. JANET analyzes basic flight information and 

traveler activities at Ports of Entry. Michaels Aff. ¶ 10. Mendoza raised red flags because he 

traveled on 34 flights in less than two months. Michaels Aff. ¶ 13. He also traveled alone on all 

of his flights, changed clothes on many of the flights, traveled with only a duffle bag, observed 

his surroundings prior to making a phone call, used a privacy protector on his electronics, and 

did not drink alcohol prior to or during any flight. Michaels Aff. ¶ 14.  

   On March 31, 2018, Mendoza flew into Cape Adams International Airport from 

Vancouver. Michaels Aff. 5–6. Agent Michaels questioned Mendoza about his activities. 

Michaels Aff. ¶ 15–16. Mendoza claimed to be a food and supply distributor affiliated with The 

Wing Dump and his job required him to travel frequently. Michaels Aff. ¶ 16. Michaels searched 

Mendoza’s duffel bag and discovered a notebook documenting international shipments into the 

United States. Michaels Aff. ¶ 18. He also discovered a second cell phone hidden in the seam of 

the duffel bag. Michaels Aff. ¶ 19. The phone had recently been restored to factory settings. 

Michaels Aff. ¶ 21. Mendoza claimed that it had become corrupted at an internet café in 

Vancouver, three days previously, and he had to reset it. Michaels Aff. ¶ 21. He also claimed that 

this phone was his business phone. Michaels Aff. ¶ 19. Michaels requested a forensic search of 

this phone. Michaels Aff. ¶ 22. The cyber analyst retrieved hundreds of text messages between 

Mendoza, under an alias, and other suspected drug traffickers. Michaels Aff. ¶ 30.  Later, 
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Michaels requested outdoor security footage from The Wing Dump. Michaels Aff. ¶ 35. The 

footage revealed eleven encounters of drug deals. Michaels Aff. ¶ 36–38.   

On April 30, 2018, a warrant was issued for Mendoza’s arrest and Michaels went to 

Mendoza’s home to arrest him. Michaels Supp. Aff. ¶ 1–2. Dispatch received a 911 call from an 

anonymous caller claiming that an individual matching Mendoza’s description launched an 

unknown flaming object into the Pie Hard Bakery. Michaels Supp. Aff. ¶ 5. Michaels arrived on 

the scene to find Mendoza entering his vehicle. Michaels Supp. Aff. ¶ 6. Michaels discovered a 

BIC lighter in Mendoza’s pocket. Mendoza was charged with Count One, Distribution of a 

Controlled Substance and Count Two, Possession of a Destructive Device in Furtherance of a 

Crime of Violence. Mendoza Indict. 

DISCUSSION 

  

I. This Court should deny Defendant’s Motion to Suppress because the government did not 

violate Mendoza’s Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable searches and 

seizures when it conducted a forensic search of the defendant’s phone. 

 

For a search to be constitutionally proper, it must be reasonable. See U.S. Const. amend. 

IV. The reasonableness of a search depends upon all of its surrounding circumstances. New 

Jersey v. T.L.O., 469 U.S. 325, 337 (1985). A border search is almost always reasonable because 

of the unique need for a country to be able to protect itself by preventing contraband from 

entering the country. United States v. Ramsey, 431 U.S. 606, 616–617 (1977) (citing Boyd v. 

United States, 116 U.S. 616, 623 (1886) and Carroll v. United States, 67 U.S 132, 153–154 

(1925)); See 18 U.S.C. 1981(a). A search of passengers and cargo of a plane arriving into the 

United States from another country is “clearly . . . the functional equivalent of a border search.” 

Almeida–Sanchez v. United States, 413 U.S. 266, 273 (1973). Under rare circumstances, such as 

a search of a person’s alimentary canal, the government officials conducting the search must 
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have a reasonable suspicion from the inception of the search. See United States v. Montoya de 

Hernandez, 473 U.S. 531, 541 (1985). The search and seizure of Mendoza’s phone was legal 

because (A) it was routine, requiring no showing of suspicion, and (B) although unnecessary, the 

officers in this case had a reasonable suspicion of illicit activities.  

A. The government’s seizure and forensic search of Mendoza’s phone was 

constitutionally valid because it was a routine border search.  

 

  Searches and seizures of electronic devices are routine and thus require no showing of 

suspicion. See Ramsey, 431 U.S. at 616.  The United States Supreme Court has only required a 

particularized suspicion for a physically intrusive border search. See Montoya de Hernandez, 473 

U.S. at 541. In fact, the Court specifically made a narrow ruling, refusing to extend this 

requirement to other nonroutine searches. Montoya de Hernandez, 473 U.S. at 543 n.4.  

Following this Supreme Court opinion, The United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth 

Circuit found that a search of electronics should be treated the same way as a search of a closed 

container and its contents. U.S. v. Arnold, 523 F.3d 941, 946 (9th Cir. 2008). The search of an 

electronic device stands in stark contrast to the extreme invasion of privacy addressed in 

Montoya de Hernandez. The United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit has 

interpreted Montoya de Hernandez to indicate that only “highly intrusive searches of a person’s 

body such as a strip search or an x–ray examination” require an additional showing of reasonable 

suspicion. United States v. Vergara, 884 F.3d 1309, 1312 (11th Cir. 2018).  

  Based on opinions by the United States Supreme Court and other Courts of Appeals, The 

United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit identified the following six factors to 

determine how invasive a search is:  

(i) Whether the search results in the exposure of intimate body parts or requires the 

suspect to disrobe; 
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(ii) Whether physical contact between Customs officials and the suspect occurs 

during the search; 

(iii) Whether force is used to effect the search; 

(iv) Whether the type of search exposes the suspect to pain or danger; 

(v) The overall manner in which the search is conducted; and 

(vi) Whether the suspect’s reasonable expectation of privacy, if any, are abrogated by 

the search. 

 

United States v. Braks, 842 F.2d 509, 512 (1st Cir. 1988). The Court noted that based on these 

factors, only strip–searches and body–cavity searches have been consistently found to be 

nonroutine and require an additional showing of suspicion for border searches. Id. at 512–13. 

These factors would indicate that forensic testing does not fit into the category of nonroutine 

border searches.  

The Justified Assessment and Notification Emergency Tracker (JANET) and the Fun and 

Friendly Skies System (FFS) are routine by their nature. All U.S. citizens are added to the 

system at a Port of Entry. Michaels Aff. ¶ 9. JANET collects information about travel patterns 

and the traveler’s conduct within the airport. Michaels Aff. ¶ 10. Using this information, JANET 

selects individuals for further surveillance. Michaels Aff. ¶ 12. JANET notifies Federal Air 

Marshals (FAMs) who in turn, monitor the traveler’s conduct on the next flight. Michaels Aff. ¶ 

12. The FAMs upload their observations to the JANET database following the flight. Michaels 

Aff. ¶ 12.  

The system routinely screens travelers traveling through Ports of Entry. The activities are 

observed by government officials in the same manner as they would be without JANET or the 

FFS. Very little difference exists between screening with the system and without it. It is certainly 

more efficient, but more importantly, it removes demographic metrics including age, gender, 

race, ethnicity, and known religious affiliations. See Michaels Aff. ¶ 10.   
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B. Even if the government’s forensic search of Mendoza’s phone was not routine, 

the search was constitutionally valid because the government had a reasonable 

suspicion.  

  

  Although the seizure and forensic search of Mendoza’s phone did not require any 

suspicion, the circumstances giving rise to the search gave the government officials a reasonable 

suspicion. The requirement of reasonable suspicion in this case is equivalent to the required 

showing for a police officer to conduct a Terry stop. See Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968). 

For it to be reasonable, the search or seizure has to be based on “specific reasonable inferences 

which he is entitled to draw from the facts in light of his experience.” Id. Under the collective 

knowledge doctrine, knowledge by multiple officers are imputed on each other to determine 

reasonable suspicion or probable cause. E.g. United States v. Ramirez, 473 F.3d 1026 (9th Cir. 

2006); United States v. Williams, 627 F.3d 247 (7th Cir. 2010).  

  The JANET program provides individualized reasonable suspicion. The Supreme Court 

has upheld the use of “drug courier profiles” for developing reasonable suspicion. United States 

v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 9 (1989). In Sokolow, the Court found that information consistent with 

“drug courier profiles” does not detract from the evidentiary value. Id. The agents stopped the 

defendant because he was traveling under an alias, his original destination was a known source 

city that he stayed in for only forty–eight hours, he appeared nervous, and he did not check any 

of his luggage. Id. at 4. 

In this case, Mr. Mendoza traveled between a number of source cities,1 like Los Angeles, 

New York, Miami, and Fort Lauderdale. Michaels Aff. 5–6. He also stayed at his destinations for 

no more than a couple of days and did not check his bag. Michaels Aff. 5–6. Additionally, 

                                           
1 Source cities include Fort Lauderdale, Miami, New York, Los Angeles, Detroit, Chicago, and a number of others. 

Mark J. Kadish, The Drug Courier Profile: In Planes, Trains, and Automobiles; and Now in the Jury Box, Am. U. 

L. Rev. 747, 748 (1997). 
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JANET takes information that the government officials already have or have access to. That 

information is put into the system.  Any information that does not come from the agents comes 

from cameras in public areas of the airport. All activities recorded by these cameras are 

knowingly exposed to the public.2 The only difference between the FFS system and low–tech 

policework is that FFS and JANET protect people from human biases like racial profiling and 

other errors in training. It also saves money by not wasting employee’s valuable time. By nature 

of the programming, JANET provides a reasonable suspicion through its algorithms. These 

factors are then transmitted to actual agents who conduct further investigation. This investigation 

is a border stop that requires no showing of suspicion and gives the agents the opportunity to 

develop reasonable suspicion themselves. Just like in Sokolow, just because factors are consistent 

with JANET’s algorithm does not mean that it should detract from the agent’s development of 

reasonable suspicion.  

  While courts have readily applied a higher standard of reasonable suspicion to non–

routine border searches, they hesitate to find that such searches were not based on reasonable 

suspicion. In cases of forensic searches, courts often decline to determine whether the search was 

routine because the circumstances usually establish a reasonable suspicion regardless. See United 

States v. Molina–Gómez, 781 F.3d 13, 20–21 (1st Cir. 2015); Vergara, 884 F.3d at 1312. In 

Molina–Gómez, the Customs and Border Patrol (CBP) computer system flagged Molina for 

questioning. Molina–Gómez, 781 F.3d at 16. He claimed one carry–on, a laptop bag, and a bag 

containing a Sony Playstation. Id. The defendant was carrying a money gram in a large amount 

of money and three cell phones in his carry–on bag. Id. This was Molina’s third trip in four 

months. Id. The cell phones showed text messages involving money transactions of about $8,000 

                                           
2“What a person knowingly exposes to the public . . . is not a subject of Fourth Amendment protection. Katz v. 

United States, 389 U.S. 347, 351 (1967).  
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and his statements contradicted a confirmed plane ticket. Id. at 17. The officers detained 

Molina’s electronics for twenty–two days while they searched the electronics for contraband. Id. 

The court found that no hard–and–fast time limits make a search turn unreasonable and refused 

to second–guess techniques used by the CBP lab. Id. at 21 (citing Montoya de Hernandez, 473 

U.S. at 543 and United States v. Flores Montano, 341 U.S. 149, 155 n.3 (2004)).  

In Vergara, U.S. Customs and Border Protection (CBP) flagged the defendant when he 

returned to the United States from Mexico. Id. at 1313. Because he was flagged, Vergara was 

subjected to additional questioning and searching. Id. The agent conducting the search 

discovered two cell phones in Vergara’s luggage and another on his person. Id. The agent 

discovered videos on one of the phones depicting topless females that he suspected to be minors. 

Id. A special agent viewed a few seconds of the video and recognized the logo of a website 

known to distribute child pornography. Id. at 1314. The agents conducted a forensic examination 

of that phone and discovered more than 100 images and videos and child pornography on 

Vergara’s phone. Id. at 1314. 

This case bears many similarities to both Vergara and Molina–Gómez. Mendoza had 

traveled on thirty–four flights in less than two months. Michaels Aff. ¶ 13. Fifteen of these 

flights were international flights and nineteen were domestic flights. Michaels Aff. ¶ 13. He 

traveled alone on all the flights, changed clothes while on nine of the flights, traveled only with a 

duffel bag, observed his surroundings prior to making any phone call in the airport, used a 

privacy protector on his laptop screen and phone, and did not drink alcohol before any of the 

flights. Michaels Aff. ¶ 14.  

Agent Michaels questioned Mendoza and searched his duffel bag. Michaels Aff. ¶ 16–18. 

He examined a notebook that contained a calendar of international shipments, which was 
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inconsistent with Mendoza’s previous explanation regarding the reason for his flights. See 

Michaels Aff. ¶ 18. Establishing new franchise restaurants abroad does not involve bringing 

shipments into the United States. Michaels discovered a second phone hidden inside the lining of 

the bag. Michaels Aff. ¶ 19. The iPhone 6 that Michaels discovered was four years old, 

particularly in comparison to the iPhone X in Mendoza’s hands. See Michaels Aff. ¶ 19. 

Mendoza provided the password to this phone to Michaels. Michaels Aff. ¶ 21. The phone had 

no call or message history, no internet browsing history, and no downloaded applications. 

Michaels Aff. ¶ 21. Mendoza claimed that this phone had become corrupted three days ago and 

he had restored the phone to its factory settings. Michaels Aff. ¶ 21. Based on this explanation, 

he would have not used his “work phone” at all during his supposed business trip. These facts 

taken together gave rise to a reasonable suspicion, allowing the agents to conduct a forensic 

search of Mendoza’s phone. Just as in Molina–Gómez, the length of time required to conduct the 

search does not make it unreasonable. The length of time required to run a full forensic search is 

two to four weeks. Michaels Aff. ¶ 25. In this case, it took 20 days, less than the twenty–two 

days required for a physical search in Molina– Gómez. See 781 F.3d at 17.  

C. The videotape evidence that the government obtained cannot be subject to 

exclusion. 

 
At a minimum, the agent’s questioning of Mendoza amounted to a routine border search 

requiring no showing of suspicion. See Almeida–Sanchez v. United States, 413 U.S. 266 (1973). 

Evidence that is attributable to an independent legal source is not subject to exclusion. Murray v. 

United States, 487 U.S. 533, 537–38 (1988).  Agent Michaels discovered Mendoza’s place of 

business while questioning Mendoza and took particular note of the notebook containing 

shipment information. Michaels Aff. ¶ 16, 18. That information was sufficient to determine 
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where to acquire the videotapes. Mendoza’s phone records did not assist agents in discovering 

the tapes. 

II. This Court should deny Mendoza’s motion to dismiss Count Two because the statute 

does not violate the Constitution. 

The government indicted Mendoza for violating 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(B)(ii). That 

subsection prohibits a person from using or carrying a firearm during or in relation to a crime of 

violence. For this indictment, a “crime of violence” means “an offense that is a felony and . . . 

that by its nature, involves a substantial risk that physical force against the person or property of 

another may be used in the course of committing the offense.” 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(3)(B). Courts 

refer to this definitional subsection as the “residual clause.” Sessions v. Dimaya, 138 S. Ct. 1204, 

1211 (2018). 

 In his motion to dismiss, Mendoza claims that the government cannot use this residual 

clause definition. He believes the Supreme Court’s opinion in Dimaya makes the residual clause 

unconstitutionally vague. However, Mendoza misreads Dimaya because Dimaya refused to 

answer the question of whether courts should apply the categorical approach or the conduct-

based approach. Id. at 1232. This motion turns on whether the categorical approach or the 

conduct-based approach applies to 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(3)(B). 

Under a categorical approach, courts ask whether “the ordinary case” of an offense poses 

the requisite risk. Dimaya, 138 S. Ct. at 1211. The Court does not look to the particular facts of 

the defendant’s conduct. Id. Under a conduct-based approach, a fact-finder asks whether the 

defendant’s particular conduct posed the requisite risk. See Id.  

The Supreme Court left open the question of whether courts should apply a conduct-

based or categorical approach to residual clauses. The Supreme Court declined to address what 

approach applied to the § 16(b) residual clause. Justice Kagan, writing for a four-justice 
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plurality, noted that the parties did not argue for a conduct-based approach. Dimaya, 138 S. Ct. 

at 1216. Justice Gorsuch likewise noted the parties did not brief which approach the Court 

should follow. Id. at 1232. Justice Thomas’s dissenting opinion is the only one that squarely 

addresses the categorical approach; he rejected it. Id. at 1258 (Thomas, J., dissenting). 

Justice Kagan, writing for the plurality, declined to outright reject the categorical 

approach for that particular case for four reasons: (1) the government had not urged an 

alternative approach; (2) a conduct-based approach might violate a criminal defendant’s Sixth 

Amendment right to a jury; (3) the phrase “by its nature” seemed to indicate an ordinary-case 

analysis; and (4) under a conduct-based approach, a court would face the daunting task of 

reconstructing the facts of a crime many years after the fact. Id. at 1216–18. 

However, only the weakest of these four justifications, applies to § 924(c)(3)(B), the textual 

concern. Thus, the Court should adopt a conduct-based approach for the following reasons: (1) 

the government here urges an alternative approach; (2) this approach does not force courts to 

litigate old facts; (3) this approach vindicates a defendant’s right to a jury; (4) the plain text of 

statute supports this approach; and (5) the doctrine of constitutional avoidance strongly favors 

this approach. 

A. Unlike the statutes in Johnson and Dimaya, § 924(c)(3)(B) does not make courts 

litigate old facts. 

 
Johnson and Dimaya both involved situations that lent themselves to a categorical approach. 

They required the court to look into the nature of a long-past crime. Dimaya, 138 S. Ct. at 1218.  

The Court did not wish to force trial courts to reconstruct the events of an underlying conviction 

years after the fact. Dimaya, 138 S. Ct. at 1218 (plurality opinion). Today however, the Court 

need only look to Mendoza’s indicted conduct, not some long-past crime. The Second Circuit 

recently agreed, holding that a conduct-based “approach to § 924(c)(3)(B) is appropriate because 
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the predicate offense defined by that statute is an element of the crime of pending prosecution, 

not a crime of prior conviction as in Dimaya and Johnson.” U.S. v. Barrett, No. 14-2641-cr, 

2018 WL 4288566, at *1 (2nd Cir. 2018). 

B. A conduct-based approach vindicates a defendant’s right to a trial by jury. 

 

In Johnson, the Court wished to avoid violating a criminal defendant’s right to a jury trial. It 

believed that a conduct-based approach might require a “full-blown minitrial, with factfinding by 

the judge instead of the jury.” Dimaya, 138 S. Ct. at 1253 (Thomas, J., dissenting). The Court 

followed the doctrine of constitutional avoidance, adopting the categorical approach to eliminate 

any jury-like fact-finding by the judge. Id. Under this doctrine, the court seeks to avoid a 

construction that raises “a serious doubt of constitutionality” by seeking an interpretation of that 

statute that avoids the issue. Ashwander v. Tenn. Valley Auth., 297 U.S. 288, 348 (1936). 

This concern about violating a defendant’s right to a trial by jury only arose because the 

statute at issue required the court to decide whether the criminal defendant’s prior conviction 

was a “violent felony.” Johnson v. United States, 135 S. Ct. 2551, 2555 (2015). This concern 

does not apply to § 924(c)(3)(B), which merely asks the court to decide fact questions about 

contemporaneous crimes — a jury’s specialty. 

C. The text of § 924(c)(3)(B) supports a conduct-based approach. 

 

Under § 924(c)(3)(B), a “crime of violence” is an offense that “by its nature, involves a 

substantial risk that physical force against the person or property of another may be used in the 

course of committing the offense.” 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(3)(B). The use of “by its nature” is 

consistent with a conduct-based approach. 

“Nature” refers to “the inherent character or basic constitution of a thing.” Nature, Merriam-

Webster Online Dictionary (2018). In essence, the parties dispute what “thing” Congress referred 
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to when it included “by its nature.” Mendoza would have this Court believe Congress meant 

something metaphysical and impractical, forcing courts to apply a gravely uncertain standard to 

“a judge-imagined abstraction.” See Johnson, 135 S. Ct. at 2557–58. More likely, Congress 

meant to refer to “the offender’s actual underlying conduct.” Dimaya, 138 S. Ct. at 1254 

(Thomas, J., dissenting). 

Congress has used “nature” to do just that in other statutes. For example, 18 U.S.C. 

§ 3553(a)(2) asks the court to consider the “nature and consequences” of the offense. “Nature” 

directs the court to consider the defendant’s own conduct, while “consequences” directs the court 

to consider the dire effect the defendant’s conduct had on his victims. 

As Congress used “by its nature” in § 924(c)(3)(B), it simply means “that an offender who 

engages in risky conduct cannot benefit from the fortuitous fact that physical force was not 

actually used during his offense.” Dimaya, 138 S. Ct. at 1254 (Thomas, J., dissenting). This 

Court should likewise follow the conduct-based approach. 

D. The doctrine of constitutional avoidance heavily favors a conduct-based 

approach. 

 

The categorical approach would render § 924(c)(3)(B) unconstitutional for vagueness. 

However, the Supreme Court has repeatedly cautioned courts to interpret statutes so as to avoid 

constitutional issues. Mendoza offers no good reason for running head-first into this 

constitutional bar. 

Mendoza invokes in pari materia to bring the baggage of prior-conviction statutes to 

§ 924(c)(3)(B). This doctrine asks courts to consistently interpret similar statutes. See U.S. v. 

Rodriguez, 60 F.3d 193, 196 (5th Cir. 1995). However, in pari materia is but one tool in a 

court’s toolkit.  In Fogerty, the Supreme Court gave in pari materia short-shrift, rejecting it in 

favor of mere policy considerations. Fogerty v. Fantasy, Inc., 510 U.S. 517, 523 (1994). 
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The doctrine of constitutional avoidance has much greater strength. Fogerty quickly 

discarded in pari materia when it conflicted with policy considerations. But a court is obligated 

to avoid an interpretation that raises serious constitutional problems if it is merely “fairly 

possible.” INS. v. St. Cyr, 533 U.S. 289, 299–300 (2001); see also Skilling v. U.S., 561 U.S. 358, 

406 (2010) (“[E]very reasonable construction must be resorted to, in order to save a statute from 

unconstitutionality.”). 

Without a doubt, the categorical approach raises serious constitutional problems — the 

Supreme Court has already held it unconstitutional. But applying a conduct-based approach to a 

contemporaneous crime raises no constitutional issues. As shown above, the text of 

§ 924(c)(3)(B) easily supports a conduct-based approach, surpassing the “fairly possible” 

standard. This Court should not use a minor cannon of construction to invalidate an act of 

Congress. Instead, it should adopt the conduct-based approach. 

CONCLUSION 
 

The government requests that this Court deny Defendant Mendoza’s Motion to Suppress 

because the forensic search of Mendoza’s phone was constitutionally valid. The government also 

requests that this Court deny Defendant Mendoza’s Motion to Dismiss Count Two because the 

language of the statute is not unconstitutionally vague. 
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